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The Committee on Government Affairs was called to order by Chair Venicia Considine at 

9:03 a.m. on Tuesday, April 8, 2025, in Room 4100 of the Legislative Building, 401 South 

Carson Street, Carson City, Nevada. The meeting was videoconferenced to Room 1 of the 

Nevada Legislature Hearing Rooms, 7120 Amigo Street, Las Vegas, Nevada. Copies of the 

minutes, including the Agenda [Exhibit A], the Attendance Roster [Exhibit B], and other 

substantive exhibits, are available and on file in the Research Library of the 

Legislative Counsel Bureau and on the Nevada Legislature's website at 

www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025. 
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Assemblymember Max E. Carter II 

Assemblymember Rich DeLong 

Assemblymember Reuben D'Silva 

Assemblymember Rebecca Edgeworth 

Assemblymember Tanya P. Flanagan 

Assemblymember Danielle Gallant 

Assemblymember Heather Goulding 
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STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 

 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst 

Sarah Delap, Committee Counsel 

Judith Bishop, Committee Manager 

Holly Gilman, Committee Secretary 

Mary Whalen, Committee Assistant 

 

OTHERS PRESENT: 

 

Alexis Motarex, Director of Government Affairs, Associated General 

Contractors Of Nevada 

Nick Vassiliadis, representing Southern Nevada Building Trades Union; and 

Southwest Regional Council of Carpenters 

Summer Pellett, Owner, Pellett Construction LLC, Reno, Nevada 

Chelsea Capurro, representing Nevada Subcontractors Association 

Lindsay Knox, representing Builders Association of Northern Nevada 

Paige Barnes, representing Granite Construction 

Frank Lepori, Manager, Frank Lepori Construction Inc., Sparks, Nevada 

Warren B. Hardy II, Representing Urban Consortium 

 

Chair Considine: 

[Roll was called and protocols reviewed.] Good morning, and welcome to today's meeting 

of the Assembly Committee on Government Affairs of the 2025 Session. Welcome to the 

audience here in Carson City, those joining by videoconference in Las Vegas, and those 

listening over the Internet. Today, we will conduct a work session to take action on 

measures the Committee has heard in previous meetings. After the work session, we will 

hear one bill, Assembly Bill 478, which revises provisions governing construction times in 

certain counties and cities.  

 

We will now go to the work session. It is not customary for the Committee to take testimony 

or rehear bills during a work session; however, I may invite a witness to come forward for 

clarification or questions during consideration of a measure.  

 

Today we will be hearing 14 bills during work session, Assembly Bill 1, Assembly Bill 8, 

Assembly Bill 10, Assembly Bill 14, Assembly Bill 50, Assembly Bill 57, 

Assembly Bill 64, Assembly Bill 114, Assembly Bill 155, Assembly Bill 189, 

Assembly Bill 274, Assembly Bill 281, Assembly Bill 303, and Assembly Bill 325. Please 

note, we will not be considering Assembly Bill 180 during the work session today.  

 

We will start with Assembly Bill 1, and I will turn it over to our Policy Analyst. 
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Assembly Bill 1: Voids certain regulations relating to the development and disposal of 

land in the Fort Mohave Valley. (BDR S-299) 

 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst: 

As nonpartisan staff, I can neither support nor oppose any measure before the Committee. 

The first bill on the work session is Assembly Bill 1, which voids certain regulations 

relating to the development and disposal of land in the Fort Mohave Valley [Exhibit C]. The 

Committee heard this measure on February 19, 2025. Assembly Bill 1 voids certain 

regulations related to the Fort Mojave Valley Development Law and requires the Legislative 

Counsel to remove them from the Nevada Administrative Code. There are no amendments.  

 

Chair Considine: 

Members, are there any questions or discussion? [There were none.] I will now entertain 

a motion to do pass Assembly Bill 1. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER NGUYEN MADE A MOTION TO DO PASS 

ASSEMBLY BILL 1. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER KARRIS SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion? [There was none.]  

 

THE MOTION PASSED. (ASSEMBLYMEMBERS GALLANT AND 

GURR VOTED NO.) 

 

The floor statement will go to Assemblymember Flanagan.  

 

Assembly Bill 8: Revises provisions relating to state financial administration. 

(BDR 31-378) 

 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst: 

The next bill on the work session is Assembly Bill 8, which revises provisions relating to 

state financial administration [Exhibit D]. The Committee heard this measure on 

February 21, 2025. Assembly Bill 8 exempts the Division of State Parks from the 

requirement to deposit $10,000 or more accumulated during any day by the next working 

day. Instead, it requires the Division to deposit the money within ten working days. There 

are no amendments.  

 

Chair Considine: 

Members, are there any questions? [There were none.] I will entertain a motion to do pass 

Assembly Bill 8. 

  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/11742/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA765C.pdf
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/11758/Overview/
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ASSEMBLYMEMBER NGUYEN MADE A MOTION TO DO PASS 

ASSEMBLY BILL 8. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CARTER SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion? [There was none.]  

 

THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

Chair Considine: 

I will assign the floor statement to Assemblymember Gray.  

 

Assembly Bill 10: Revises provisions relating to local improvement projects. 

(BDR 22-407) 

 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst: 

The next bill on the work session is Assembly Bill 10, which revises provisions relating to 

local improvement projects [Exhibit E]. The Committee heard this measure on February 18, 

2025. Assembly Bill 10 adds the improvement of a water or sewer system owned by 

a common-interest community to the definition of "neighborhood improvement project" and 

excludes this type of project from certain provisions that apply to other neighborhood 

improvement projects. It also establishes that such a project will not be stayed, defeated, or 

prevented by written complaints, protests, and objections unless deemed so by the governing 

body of a county, city, or town. There are no amendments.  

 

Chair Considine: 

Members, are there any questions? [There were none.] I will now entertain a motion to do 

pass Assembly Bill 10.  

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER NGUYEN MADE A MOTION TO DO PASS 

ASSEMBLY BILL 10. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CARTER SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion?  

 

Assemblymember Gallant: 

Yes, with reservation. 

 

THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

Chair Considine: 

I will assign the floor statement to Assemblymember Hunt.  

 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/11760/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA765E.pdf
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Assembly Bill 14: Revises provisions relating to certain public officers. (BDR 20-453) 

 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst: 

The next bill on work session is Assembly Bill 14, which revises provisions relating to 

certain public officers. The Committee heard this measure on February 12, 2025. 

Assembly Bill 14 establishes a requirement for certain county offices, as well as the Board 

of Supervisors in Carson City, to be registered to vote in this state [Exhibit F]. The 

requirement does not apply to individuals who hold such offices on July 1, 2025. There are 

no amendments.  

 

Chair Considine: 

Members, are there any questions? [There were none.] I will entertain a motion to do pass 

Assembly Bill 14.  

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER NGUYEN MADE A MOTION TO DO PASS 

ASSEMBLY BILL 14. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CARTER SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion? [There was none.] 

 

THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

I will assign the floor statement to Assemblymember Kasama. 

 

Assembly Bill 50: Revises provisions relating to victims of a mass casualty incident. 

(BDR 20-466) 

 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst: 

The next bill on the work session is Assembly Bill 50, which revises provisions relating to 

victims of a mass casualty incident [Exhibit G]. The Committee heard this measure on 

February 27, 2025. Assembly Bill 50 authorizes a board of county commissioners to 

establish and maintain an electronic database containing information concerning mass 

casualty incident victims to coordinate identification and reunification services, as well as 

other appropriate follow-up services. If such a database is established, the board of county 

commissioners must make certain determinations, including the information contained 

within and reported to the database, as well as the persons and entities that may participate 

in it. The bill also grants certain immunities related to the establishment and maintenance of 

the database.  

 

Furthermore, in the event of a mass casualty incident, the bill requires a hospital or 

independent center for emergency medical care located in a county with such a database to 

report certain information about victims and outline time period requirements for such 

reporting. Finally, the bill provides certain liability immunity for hospitals, independent 

centers for emergency medical care, and their agents and employees for any report made in 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/11767/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA765F.pdf
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/11842/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA765G.pdf
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good faith and for any unauthorized acquisition of the information reported that may occur 

after a report is made.  

 

Ashley Kennedy, Principal Management Analyst, Government Affairs, Clark County, 

proposed an amendment to clarify terms and concepts within the bill, including each person 

and entity that may participate in the database, defining the term "mass casualty incident" 

and replacing "follow-up services" with "long-term support services." The amendment also 

establishes certain data security measures and victim data retention. It clarifies hospital 

reporting timelines and requirements and deletes sections 7, 8, and 9 of the bill to remove 

hospital penalties.  

 

Chair Considine: 

Are there any questions from the Committee? [There were none.] I will entertain a motion to 

amend and do pass Assembly Bill 50. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER HUNT MADE A MOTION TO AMEND AND DO 

PASS ASSEMBLY BILL 50. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER D'SILVA SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion? [There was none.]  

 

THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

I will assign the floor statement to Assemblymember Jackson.  

 

Assembly Bill 57: Revises provisions relating to the Nevada Intrastate Mutual Aid 

System. (BDR 36-263) 

 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst: 

The next bill on the work session is Assembly Bill 57, which revises provisions relating to 

the Nevada Interstate Mutual Aid System [Exhibit H]. The Committee heard this measure 

on February 12, 2025. Assembly Bill 57 transfers certain duties related to the Nevada 

Interstate Mutual Aid System to the state Forester Firewarden of the Division of Forestry. 

These duties, which pertain to wildfire suppression, include coordinating the provision of 

mutual aid, administering the System, and adopting regulations. This bill also outlines 

conditions for a System participant to request intrastate mutual aid and requires that such 

requests be forwarded to either the Division of Emergency Management of the Office of the 

Military or the Division of Forestry, depending on the type of aid requested. Additionally, 

the bill establishes the state Forester Firewarden and the Chief of the Division of Emergency 

Management as cochairs of the Intrastate Mutual Aid Committee and establishes that 

Committee members must be jointly appointed. Finally, the bill outlines provisions related 

to System reimbursements and reporting requirements to the Division of Forestry. There are 

no amendments.  

 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/11857/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA765H.pdf
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Chair Considine: 

Members, are there any questions? [There were none.] I will now entertain a motion to do 

pass Assembly Bill 57.  

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER NGUYEN MADE A MOTION TO DO PASS 

ASSEMBLY BILL 57. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CARTER SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion? [There was none.] 

THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

I will assign the floor statement to Assemblymember DeLong.  

Assembly Bill 64: Revises provisions relating to public meetings. (BDR 19-445) 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst: 

The next bill on the work session is Assembly Bill 64, which revises provisions relating to 

public meetings [Exhibit I]. The Committee heard this measure on February 26, 2025. 

Assembly Bill 64 makes various changes to the Open Meeting Law (OML). It outlines 

certain circumstances that do not constitute a "meeting" for the purposes of the OML, makes 

certain changes to public comment—including circumstances where public comment 

involves issues of fact or law in a contested case, and clarifies the application of all 

provisions in circumstances concerning disciplinary action against a licensee.  

 

Additionally, it outlines certain prohibitions and requirements for using a remote technology 

system for a meeting. Finally, the bill includes certain provisions relating to testifying under 

oath and addresses causes of action arising from defamatory statements made during public 

comment.  

 

The Attorney General proposed an amendment removing the provision specifying that each 

speaker must be allowed to provide at least three minutes of public comment.  

 

Chair Considine: 

Members, are there any questions?  

 

Assemblymember Flanagan: For this one, I will be a yes, with the reservation to change 

my vote on the floor.  

 

Chair Considine: 

Thank you. I will now entertain a motion to amend and do pass Assembly Bill 64.  

  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/11873/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA765I.pdf
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ASSEMBLYMEMBER NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS 

ASSEMBLY BILL 64. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CARTER SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion? [There was none.] 

 

THE MOTION PASSED. (ASSEMBLYMEMBERS GALLANT AND 

GURR VOTED NO.) 

 

I will assign the floor statement to Assemblymember Karris. 

 

Assembly Bill 114: Revises provisions relating to county fair and recreation boards. 

(BDR 20-740) 

 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst: 

The next bill on the work session is Assembly Bill 114, which revises provisions relating to 

county fair and recreation boards [Exhibit J]. The Committee heard this measure on 

March 14, 2025. Assembly Bill 114 changes a provision concerning appointed members of 

a county fair and recreation board. Specifically, it requires all members of the board, rather 

than a specified group of members, request a new list of nominees for certain appointed 

members if they find the provided list unacceptable. Additionally, the bill requires the board 

to elect a chair from among its members generally rather than from a specified group of 

members.  

 

Assemblymember Delong proposed an amendment clarifying subsection (d) of section 1, 

specifying the remaining six members will be appointed by the county fair and recreation 

board.  

 

Chair Considine: 

Are there any questions? [There were none.] I will entertain a motion to amend and do pass 

Assembly Bill 114.  

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER DELONG MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS 

ASSEMBLY BILL 114. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER GURR SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion? [There was none.]  

 

THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

I will assign the floor statement to Assemblymember DeLong. 

 

  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12015/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA765J.pdf
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Assembly Bill 155: Revises provisions relating to public employees. (BDR 23-612) 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst: 

The next bill on the work session is Assembly Bill 155, which revises provisions relating to 

public employees [Exhibit K]. The Committee heard this measure on March 4, 2025. 

Assembly Bill 155 revises the scope of mandatory subjects of bargaining to include the ratio 

of pupils per licensed teacher in each classroom and the ratio of pupils per type of 

specialized instructional support personnel in public schools. It also outlines an exception to 

the requirement that the board of trustees of each school district consider certain 

recommendations when establishing such ratios if the school district is bound by a ratio set 

by a collective bargaining agreement.  

 

Assemblymember La Rue Hatch proposed an amendment changing the effective date of the 

bill to July 1, 2025, and adding a cosponsor. 

 

Chair Considine: 

Members, are there any questions? [There were none.] I will entertain a motion to amend 

and do pass Assembly Bill 155.  

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS 

ASSEMBLY BILL 155. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER HUNT SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion?  

 

Assemblymember Gurr: 

I am going to vote yes to get it out of Committee, but reserve the right to change my vote on 

the floor.  

 

THE MOTION PASSED. (ASSEMBLYMEMBERS DELONG, D'SILVA, 

EDGEWORTH, AND GALLANT VOTED NO.) 

 

Chair Considine: 

I will assign the floor statement to Assemblymember La Rue Hatch.  

 

Assembly Bill 189: Revises provisions relating to notaries public. (BDR 19-879) 

 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst: 

The next bill on the work session is Assembly Bill 189, which revises provisions relating to 

notaries public [Exhibit L]. The Committee heard this measure on March 5, 2025. 

Assembly Bill 189 specifies the circumstances under which a notarial officer may administer 

an oath or affirmation and provides that if an oath or affirmation is required, a person may 

provide either, and both have the same legal effect. The oath or affirmation may be provided 

in writing, orally, or through any other equivalent communication mode in accordance with 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12097/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA765K.pdf
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12159/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA765L.pdf
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the circumstances, laws, and other rules under which it is required. Additionally, the bill 

defines the terms "oath" and "affirmation" for the purposes of their administration by 

a notarial officer. There are no amendments.  

 

Chair Considine: 

Members, are there any questions? [There were none.] I will now entertain a motion to do 

pass Assembly Bill 189.  

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER NGUYEN MADE A MOTION TO DO PASS 

ASSEMBLY BILL 189. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER D'SILVA SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion? [There was none.] 

 

THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

I will assign the floor statement to Assemblymember Koenig.  

 

Assembly Bill 274: Requires the waiver of certain fees for certain businesses related 

to veterans. (BDR 7-728) 

 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst: 

The next bill on the work session is Assembly Bill 274, which requires the waiver of certain 

fees for certain businesses relating to veterans [Exhibit M]. The Committee heard this 

measure on March 18, 2025. Assembly Bill 274 requires the Secretary of State to waive a 

state business license issuance fee for licenses issued on or after July 1, 2025, if the applicant 

is an eligible veteran or a Gold Star family member or at least 51 percent of the business is 

owned by one or more eligible veterans or Gold Star family members.  

 

Assemblymember O'Neill proposed an amendment specifying the fee will not be waived if 

the applicant has received a waiver for another qualifying business. The amendment also 

provides that the renewal fee for such applicants will be waived for three years following the 

license issuance and redefines certain terms.  

 

Chair Considine: 

Members, are there any questions? [There were none.] I will now entertain a motion to 

amend and do pass Assembly Bill 274.  

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS 

ASSEMBLY BILL 274. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER KARRIS SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion? [There was none.]  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12324/Overview/
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THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

I will assign the floor statement to Assemblymember O'Neill.  

 

Assembly Bill 281: Revises provisions relating to the state militia. (BDR 36-398) 

 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst: 

The next bill on the work session is Assembly Bill 281, which revises provisions relating to 

the state militia [Exhibit N]. The Committee heard this measure on March 19, 2025. 

Assembly Bill 281 changes the compensation mechanism currently outlined for any member 

of the state militia, or his or her dependents, in the event the member is wounded, injured, 

disabled, or killed while in the line of duty in the service of the state.  

 

The bill provides that the member or their dependents are entitled to receive compensation 

and benefits equivalent to the federal compensation or benefits the member would be 

entitled to receive if the wound, injury, disability, or death arose from military duties 

performed pursuant to Title 10 or Title 32 of the United States Code.  

 

Brigadier General D. Rodger "Dan" Waters, Adjutant General, Nevada National Guard, 

proposed an amendment defining a "Nevada National Guard Employee." The amendment 

also revises the definition of "active state duty" to include the entire 24-hour day during 

which active state duty is performed. Additionally, it modifies language referring to cases 

where militia members are wounded, disabled, or killed, changing it from "in the line of 

duty in the service of the state" to "on active state duty" in order to remove ambiguity about 

the circumstances in which the provisions apply.  

 

Chair Considine: 

Members, are there any questions? [There were none.] I will now entertain a motion to 

amend and do pass A.B. 281.  

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER DELONG MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS 

ASSEMBLY BILL 281. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER NGUYEN SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion? [There was none.] 

 

THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

I will assign the floor statement to Assemblymember D'Silva.  

 

  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12335/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA765N.pdf


Assembly Committee on Government Affairs 
April 8, 2025 
Page 12 
 

Assembly Bill 303: Requires certain projects to comply with provisions governing 

public works. (BDR 28-866) 

 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst: 

The next bill on the work session is Assembly Bill 303, which requires certain projects to 

comply with provisions governing public works [Exhibit O]. The Committee heard this 

measure on March 11, 2025. Assembly Bill 303 provides that the provisions of existing law 

governing public works apply to any project for the development or improvement of 

broadband, telecommunication, or fiber optic services for which public money has been 

provided and is sponsored, financed, overseen, or administered by a public body in the same 

manner as if the public body awarded a contract for the project; even if the project does not 

qualify as a public work.  

 

A contractor or subcontractor engaged in such a project who submits certain records to 

a public body must simultaneously submit a copy of the record to the Board of Directors of 

the Nevada State Infrastructure Bank.  

 

Assemblymember Karris proposed an amendment that limits the provisions of section 1 to 

mandating a contractor or subcontractor required to maintain certain records for the 

development, deployment, or improvement of broadband telecommunication or fiber optic 

services to simultaneously submit a copy of the records to a public body with jurisdiction 

over the public work and the Board of Directors of the Nevada State Infrastructure Bank.  

 

The amendment also specifies that with exception to section 1, the requirements of Nevada 

Revised Statutes Chapter 338 do not apply to a contract awarded for the development, 

deployment, or improvement of privately owned broadband, telecommunication, or fiber 

optic services.  

 

Assemblymember Karris also proposed an amendment to add cosponsors to the bill. 

 

Chair Considine: 

Members, are there any questions? [There were none.] I will now entertain a motion to 

amend and do pass Assembly Bill 303.  

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS 

ASSEMBLY BILL 303. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CARTER SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion? [There was none.]  

 

THE MOTION PASSED. (ASSEMBLYMEMBERS DELONG, 

EDGEWORTH, GALLANT, GURR, AND KASAMA VOTED NO.) 

 

I will assign the floor statement to Assemblymember Karris. 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12381/Overview/
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Assembly Bill 325: Revises provisions relating to artificial intelligence. (BDR 36-393) 

Alex Drozdoff, Committee Policy Analyst: 

The last bill on the work session is Assembly Bill 325, which revises provisions relating to 

artificial intelligence [Exhibit P]. The Committee heard this measure on March 7, 2025. 

Assembly Bill 325 defines "artificial intelligence" (AI) and requires the state emergency 

management plan, as well as plans developed by state and local governments, to include 

certain provisions to ensure that final decisions regarding emergency response planning and 

resource allocation are not made by AI. Such decisions must be made by a natural person. 

Furthermore, the bill prohibits a public utility from using AI to make a final decision about 

whether to reduce or shut down utility services in response to a disaster or emergency.  

 

Assemblymember Torres-Fossett proposed an amendment, requested by NV Energy, to 

clarify that a public utility shall not make a final decision on whether to reduce or shut down 

utility service in response to a disaster or emergency based solely on AI.  

 

Chair Considine: 

Members, are there any questions? [There were none.] I will now entertain a motion to 

amend and do pass Assembly Bill 325.  

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER NGUYEN MADE A MOTION TO AMEND AND 

DO PASS ASSEMBLY BILL 325. 

 

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CARTER SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

Is there any discussion on the motion? [There was none.] 

 

THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

The floor statement will be assigned to Assemblymember Torres-Fossett.  

 

[Assembly Bill 180 was agendized but not considered.] 

 

We will close the work session, and I will now open the hearing on Assembly Bill 478, 

which revises provisions governing construction times in certain counties and cities. To 

present this measure, we have Assemblymember Jauregui. Please begin whenever you are 

ready. 

 

Assembly Bill 478: Revises provisions governing construction times in certain counties 

and cities. (BDR 20-1091) 

 

Assemblymember Sandra Jauregui, Assembly District No. 41: 

It is so nice to be back in front of the Assembly Government Affairs Committee to present 

Assembly Bill 478 for your consideration. In 2021, I worked on Assembly Bill 249 of the 

81st Session, which prohibited common interest communities from restricting the hours 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12417/Overview/
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construction work may begin if they were later than those adopted by a governing body of 

a county or city, but only during the hot summer months, creating safe work environments 

for Nevadans who work outdoors. I came back in 2023, and presented in front of 

Government Affairs Assembly Bill 189 of the 82nd Session, which expanded protections on 

residential construction by further addressing start times during the hot summer months. 

Many of you were on this Committee to hear me present Assembly Bill 189 of the 

82nd Session, but I do not think any of you were here when I presented A.B. 249 of the 

81st Session.  

 

I am here before you again today, tackling the same growing problem on construction sites 

because Nevada has two of the fastest-warming cities in America. Our outdoor workers face 

an invisible threat: heat exhaustion and heat stroke. This session, I am here with the 

Associated General Contractors and the Southern Nevada Building Trades Union because 

our previous work has left their members in commercial construction cut out of our 

protections. It is not fair that those working on pavement to build our highways, build our 

roads, and build Nevada are left out of the protections. Those in the commercial 

construction industry are uniquely susceptible to heat-related injuries. The work comes with 

inherent risks, which are amplified by exposure to direct sunlight during the hottest months 

of the year.  

 

From the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) website: Construction workers 

are at high risk of death, injuries, illness, and reduced productivity resulting from heat 

exposure on the job. Between 1992 and 2016, 285 construction workers died from 

heat-related causes. More than a third of all U.S. occupational deaths were from heat 

exposure. It is possible that heat-related deaths were undercounted due to misclassification. 

Heat-related deaths have an upward trend that corresponds with an increase in average 

summer temperatures during the same time period. Approximately 75 percent of these 

fatalities occurred during the summer months of June, July, and August. Again, 75 percent 

of these fatalities occurred during June, July, and August.  

 

The situation here in Nevada is equally concerning. In 2021, Nevada's Occupational Safety 

and Health Administration (OSHA) received 344 heat-related complaints, a significant 

surge from the average of 118 annual complaints between 2015 and 2020. The upward trend 

persisted, with 467 complaints filed through September 2024, marking the highest number 

in the agency's history. Highlighting the severity, heat accounted for nearly 50 percent of all 

injury claims filed with Nevada OSHA from 2020 to 2024, underscoring the pressing need 

for comprehensive protective measures.  

 

Workers in the commercial construction sector face distinct challenges. Their tasks often 

involve prolonged exposure to direct sunlight, especially during the sweltering summer 

months. The nature of their work, which includes handling heavy machinery and performing 

physically demanding tasks, amplifies the risk associated with heat exposure. Notably, those 

working with cement are particularly vulnerable. Studies have indicated they are ten times 

more likely to suffer fatal heat-related incidents compared to the average construction 

worker. The health ramifications of heat exhaustion and heat stroke are profound. 
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Symptoms encompass cognitive impairment, dizziness, and excessive sweating, leading to 

slippery hands, delayed response times, muscle fatigue, cramping, nausea or vomiting, and 

obscured vision due to fogged eyewear. Can you imagine handling large-scale CAT 

[Caterpillar] equipment with these symptoms?  

 

The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health emphasizes one of the most 

effective strategies to mitigate heat-related risk is scheduling high-risk tasks during cooler 

parts of the day. Assembly Bill 478 seeks to implement this recommendation by requiring 

adjusted work schedules, ensuring commercial construction workers are afforded the same 

protections as those in the residential sector.  

 

Chair, with your permission, I would now like to turn it over to my copresenters. We will 

start with Alexis Motarex with AGC [Associated General Contractors of Nevada], followed 

by Nick Vassiliadis, representing SNBTU [Southern Nevada Building Trades Union]. Then, 

I will walk the Committee through the amendment [Exhibit Q].  

 

Alexis Motarex, Director of Government Affairs, Associated General Contractors of 

Nevada: 

I am proud to be copresenting A.B. 478 with the Majority Leader. This legislation is 

fundamentally about protecting construction workers by responsibly limiting the authority 

of local governments to impose overly restrictive construction hours.  

 

While we respect the authority of local governing bodies to adopt ordinances that best suit 

their constituents, we feel there needs to be balance and consistency. For those working 

outdoors, hotter conditions are not just uncomfortable, they can be dangerous. Prolonged 

exposure to extreme heat can lead to heat exhaustion, dehydration, heat stroke, and, in the 

worst cases, death. We worked closely with Nevada OSHA and other stakeholders on the 

recently adopted heat-illness medication regulations. We work hard to ensure our workforce 

is protected against the hazards of heat. Construction employers start jobs as early as 

allowable, build in extra rest and water breaks, and train crews on heat-illness prevention. 

But when cities or counties limit work hours with blanket restrictions, they may 

inadvertently eliminate the most effective tool we have to protect our workforce—

scheduling around the heat.  

 

Early morning shifts are widely recognized as one of the most important tools employers 

have to reduce risk. Yet local ordinances that limit construction hours, sometimes restricting 

work from starting until 7 a.m. or even 8 a.m., directly undermine these lifesaving practices. 

Throughout the state, high temperatures can create a significant risk for outdoor workers. 

Flexibility in scheduling allows crews to begin earlier in the morning when temperatures are 

lower and end before the most dangerous heat sets in. If construction hours are restricted to 

later start times, it forces crews to work during the hottest and most dangerous time of 

the day.  

 

We believe local governments have good intentions when adopting ordinances aimed at 

managing noise or neighborhood impact. But those ordinances should not come at the 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA765Q.pdf
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expense of worker health or safety. Construction companies and project managers also 

understand the importance of being good neighbors. We already take steps to minimize 

noise impacts, dust, and traffic disruptions. But we also need to prioritize the safety of the 

people doing the work by requiring more reasonable and consistent standards across 

jurisdictions. This bill ensures local governments can still address nuisance concerns 

without putting workers at greater risk and would ensure Nevada remains a state where 

safety comes first. It strikes the right balance between local control and statewide standards 

that support safe, timely, and cost-effective project delivery. It helps protect workers, keeps 

projects on track, and ensures the economic engine of our construction industry continues to 

run safely and efficiently.  

 

Nevada's construction industry powers our state's growth and prosperity, but none of it is 

possible without safe, healthy workers. Let us give them the tools to work smart and stay 

safe. Thank you for your consideration and for standing with Nevada's construction workers. 

 

Nick Vassiliadis, representing Southern Nevada Building Trades Union: 

The primary role of the labor organization is to promote fair wages and ensure a safe and 

secure job site. Assembly Bill 478 hits at that second phase of promoting safe and secure job 

sites. Those of us who have grown up in Las Vegas, lived a long time in Las Vegas, or who 

visit Las Vegas know it is starting to get warmer earlier in the year, and it is starting to stay 

hotter later into the year, which is why you see these April-to-September time frames.  

 

With the amendment [Exhibit Q] that has been proposed incorporating some setbacks to 

allow or to prevent noise from becoming an issue in communities while also balancing the 

needs of construction workers, at the end of the day, construction workers do face different 

needs and different challenges because they are outside. They have to work in a way that 

meets the requirements of the job site, being under budget and being on time while also 

promoting the safety of our workers on those sites. Simply put, Assembly Bill 478 is a 

worker protection measure. Though I am here on behalf of the unions, I would like to have 

the record show this is the kind of measure that does not just protect union workers or 

nonunion workers, it protects all construction workers.  

 

We would like to thank the sponsor and also thank Ms. Motarex for working with us and 

allowing us to be a part of this presentation. We think it is something that spans any political 

ideology or any one thought. It is the singular notion of protecting Nevada workers.  

 

Assemblymember Jauregui: 

The intent of this bill, or more accurately, the amendment [Exhibit Q] is to expand 

protections to those working in commercial construction. Our intent was never to touch the 

residential as defined in the original bill. The amendment does two things: section 1 deals 

with counties, and section 2 deals with cities. That is why you see the same language twice. 

Basically, we are adding into statute a new subsection that says if a board of county 

commissioners adopts an ordinance restricting the hours in which construction work may 

begin, the hours for construction work for projects further than 300 feet, which is the 

setback to protect residential communities of occupied residents, must be allowed to begin 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA765Q.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Assembly/GA/AGA765Q.pdf
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at, but not earlier, than 5 a.m., meaning this is the language used for the residential, so they 

can start later, but not earlier, than 5 a.m. That language is now repeated for the cities as 

well. Before we get to questions, Chair, I would like to call someone who is here to testify 

in support. She is in the industry and a former planner, an expert in the industry, to help us 

answer questions. Ms. Summer Pellett, if you would not mind joining us to help answer 

questions. We are now ready for questions.  

 

Chair Considine: 

Thank you for your presentation. Now we will move to questions.  

 

Assemblymember Kasama:  

I think you just answered my question because I was confused. I read the amendment, and 

then I read the bill, and we are putting the word residential in here. Are we now restricting 

commercial? I think you answered that. So, I think I should ignore all these changes with the 

word "residential," and this will cover any construction.  

 

Assemblymember Jauregui: 

I would not even look at the original bill at all. I would just disregard it and throw it away. 

This is actually existing statute, and we are just adding to the existing statute. Just focus on 

the amendment.  

 

Assemblymember Karris: 

Thank you for the clarification.  

 

Assemblymember Goulding: 

Thank you for the presentation. I have a point of clarification on the hours. I totally 

appreciate the bill and that the morning hours are cooler. The evening hours are also a cooler 

time. Would you consider adding some allowances in the evening with the cooler hours? 

That would be another important consideration.  

 

Summer Pellett, Owner, Pellett Construction LLC, Reno, Nevada: 

Right now, we are not talking about limiting evening construction hours. That would be 

something we would leave up to the municipalities. That would be a project-specific type of 

restriction. We are just trying to ensure construction hours can begin as early as 5 a.m., 

which is more general in the construction industry to have early start times. That is not 

necessarily limited from a state regulation perspective. What time construction can continue 

into the evenings would be up to the municipalities. 

 

Assemblymember Gallant: 

It is always a challenge keeping our guys hydrated during the summer months. They drop 

a lot of weight; it is hard work. So here is my question: there are times when we need to 

have emergency work done in the middle of the night. For instance, if a gas line is cracked 

or the Internet goes down—those are our emergency services in the middle of the night. 

Does this bill limit them? Will they still be able to provide emergency services in the event 

it happens before 5 a.m.?  
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Assemblymember Jauregui: 

No, that is in existing law. They can continue to do that. What this is saying is they can now 

be allowed to start earlier than what the city or county might have restricted construction 

start time. This only deals with construction start times during the summer months. 

Emergency services that are already allowed to be addressed at 1 a.m. or 2 a.m. will 

continue to be allowed to be addressed. This is simply dealing with the cities or counties 

that have set construction start times in their ordinances.  

 

Chair Considine: 

We will move on to testimony. As always, testimony can be provided here in person in 

Carson City, via videoconference in Las Vegas, or over the phone with further instructions 

for providing testimony found on the agenda. We will begin here in Carson City with 

in-person support for Assembly Bill 478. Please go ahead when you are ready.  

 

Summer Pellett: 

Thank you for this opportunity to provide input in support of A.B. 478. As a former city 

planner and planning commissioner, I feel I have a bit of a unique perspective on this 

matter. I was involved firsthand in the municipal process of imposing work-hour restrictions 

on the construction industry. I can assure you it was never my intention to put the health and 

safety of Nevada construction workers at risk. I was simply trying to reduce noise pollution 

for residents adjacent to construction activity. However, I do believe I was ignorant to the 

fact that these noise restrictions come at a cost and needlessly require construction workers 

to perform manual labor during the heat of the day. While I may not have realized the 

negative impacts of construction hours while working in municipal government, my past 

decade in the construction industry has shown me that health and safety are to be prioritized 

over everything else.  

 

While construction might be considered a dangerous occupation, I believe we can more 

effectively mitigate risks when we make informed decisions. The truth is, construction 

workers have always been known to wake up before the sun in an effort to maximize 

daylight hours while also sufficiently beating the heat in Nevada. The hottest part of the day 

typically happens between 2 p.m. and 4 p.m. A 5 a.m. start during the hottest months of the 

year ensures a full day's work before things really begin to heat up, increasing the risk of 

heat exhaustion, dehydration, and even death.  

 

General contractors, subcontractors, the AGC, and OSHA work together to ensure safe 

working conditions within our industry. I believe the proposed bill would create continuity 

across jurisdictions, allowing contractors to better stay on schedule, more consistently 

provide their employees with a 40-hour work week, and adequately mitigate heat risks. It is 

imperative that we understand noise pollution related to construction activity is temporary, 

while heat presents serious health and safety issues for our workforce.  

 

Join us in making sure all Nevada construction workers arrive home safely each and every 

night.  
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Chelsea Capurro, representing Nevada Subcontractors Association:  

We have worked with the sponsor in the last couple of sessions on making these same 

changes to residential construction. We are happy to see this expanded to everyone else and 

very much support her work on this. We urge the Committee to do the same.  

 

Lindsay Knox, representing Builders Association of Northern Nevada: 

We appreciate the Majority Leader bringing this bill forward. As we see the heat increase in 

northern Nevada, we believe it is important to provide all construction workers with more 

flexibility in the hours they work. We support our commercial brothers and sisters and 

believe they deserve the same protections as we do.  

 

Paige Barnes, representing Granite Construction: 

We really appreciate the Majority Leader for bringing this bill forward. This bill will help us 

protect our workers during the hottest months and times of the day. We urge the Committee 

to support Assembly Bill 478.  

 

Frank Lepori, Manager, Frank Lepori Construction Inc., Sparks, Nevada: 

I am a contractor in Reno, and we support this bill, A.B. 478. I am here to answer any 

questions coming from a contractor who actually works out in the heat and has worked for 

many, many years. So, if you have any questions, I am here. Thank you for listening. 

Hopefully, you will pass this bill.  

 

Nick Vassiliadis, representing Southwest Regional Council of Carpenters: 

I think a simple us too would suffice. Please support A.B. 478.  

 

Chair Considine: 

Is there anyone else here in Carson City or in Las Vegas wishing to testify in support of 

Assembly Bill 478? [There was no one.] Is there anyone on the phone lines wishing to 

testify in support of A.B. 478? [There was no one.] We will move to testimony in 

opposition. Is there anyone here in Carson City or Las Vegas wishing to testify in opposition 

to Assembly Bill 478? [There was no one.] Is there anyone on the phone line in opposition 

to A.B. 478? [There was no one.] 

 

We will move to neutral testimony. Is there anyone here in Carson City wishing to testify in 

neutral on Assembly Bill 478? Please go ahead when you are ready.  

 

Warren B. Hardy II, representing Urban Consortium: 

We are neutral on the bill, but we did want to assure the Committee we are very sensitive to 

the issues being addressed by this. We have members who currently allow 5 a.m. start times, 

so we are very sensitive to this. We have processes in place to make sure these issues are 

addressed when they become problems with both the industry and our residents. We have no 

objection to the bill, but we want to make sure you know we are very sensitive to these 

issues. We have dealt with these issues and do deal with them in the industry on a regular 

basis.  
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Chair Considine: 

Seeing no one else stepping up for testimony in neutral on Assembly Bill 478 in Carson City 

or Las Vegas, is there anyone on the phone wishing to testify in neutral on A.B. 478? [There 

was no one.]  

 

Would the sponsor like to make any final remarks? She would not. I thank you for the bill 

and the presentation. I will now close the hearing on Assembly Bill 478.  

 

We will move to public comment. Is there any public comment in Carson City or Las 

Vegas? [There was none.] Is there anyone on the phone for public comment today? [There 

was no one.] 

 

Our next meeting will be on Wednesday, April 9, 2025, at 9 a.m. in Room 4100. That 

concludes our meeting for today. The meeting is adjourned [at 9:52 a.m.].  
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